ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE

HOUSE STATE AFFAI RS STANDI NG COW TTEE

April 15, 2010

8:05 a.m
VEMBERS PRESENT
Representative Bob Lynn, Chair
Representati ve Paul Seaton, Vice Chair
Representative Carl Gatto
Representative Crai g Johnson
Represent ati ve Peggy W1 son
Representati ve Max G uenberg
Representati ve Pete Petersen
VEMBERS ABSENT
Al'l nenbers present
COW TTEE CALENDAR
SENATE BILL NO 184
"An Act relating to public access to legislative conmttee
meetings during regular legislative sessions by Internet
br oadcast . "

- MOVED HCS SB 184(STA) OUT OF COW TTEE
PREVI QUS COW TTEE ACTI ON
BILL: SB 184
SHORT TI TLE: | NTERNET ACCESS TO LEG COW TTEE MIGS
SPONSOR(s): SENATOR(s) FRENCH
04/ 07/ 09 (S) READ THE FI RST TI ME - REFERRALS
04/ 07/ 09 (S) STA, FIN
01/ 28/ 10 (S) STA AT 9: 00 AM BELTZ 105 (TSBI dg)
01/ 28/ 10 (S) Moved SB 184 Qut of Committee
01/ 28/ 10 (S) M NUTE( STA)
01/ 29/ 10 (S) STA RPT 5DP
01/ 29/ 10 (S) DP:  MENARD, FRENCH, MEYER, PASKVAN,
KOOKESH

04/ 07/ 10 (S) FIN AT 9: 00 AM SENATE FI NANCE 532
04/ 07/ 10 (S) Heard & Held
04/ 07/ 10 (S) M NUTE( FI N)
04/ 09/ 10 (S) FIN AT 1: 30 PM SENATE FI NANCE 532
04/ 09/ 10 (S Moved SB 184 Qut of Conmittee

HOUSE STA COW TTEE

April 15, 2010



04/ 09/ 10 (S) M NUTE( FI N)

04/ 10/ 10 (S) FIN RPT 6DP 1INR

04/ 10/ 10 (S) DP: HOFFMAN, STEDMAN, HUGG NS, THOWAS,
EGAN, ELLIS

04/ 10/ 10 (S) NR: OLSON

04/ 12/ 10 (S) TRANSM TTED TO (H)

04/ 12/ 10 (S) VERS| ON:  SB 184

04/ 12/ 10 (H) READ THE FI RST TIME - REFERRALS

04/ 12/ 10 (H) STA, FIN

04/ 15/ 10 (H STA AT 8: 00 AM CAPI TOL 106

W TNESS REG STER

SENATOR HOLLI' S FRENCH

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: I ntroduced SB 184 as sponsor.

SUE GULLUFSEN, Manager

Legi slative Information Ofice (LIO

Legi slative Affairs Agency

Juneau, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Answer ed questions during the hearing on SB
184.

TI M POAERS, | T Coordi nat or

Legislative Information Ofice (LIO

Legi sl ative Affairs Agency

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Answer ed questions during the hearing on SB
184.

ACTI ON NARRATI VE
8: 05: 05 AM

CHAIR BOB LYNN called the House State Affairs Standing Commttee
neeting to order at 8:05 a.m Representatives Seaton, Gatto,
Wl son, Petersen, and Lynn were present at the call to order.
Represent ati ves Johnson and G uenberg arrived as the neeting was
i n progress.

SB 184-1 NTERNET ACCESS TO LEG COW TTEE MIGS

8:05: 21 AM

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 2- April 15, 2010



CHAI R LYNN announced that the only order of business was SENATE
BILL NO 184, "An Act relating to public access to legislative
commttee neetings during regular legislative sessions by
| nt ernet broadcast."

8:08: 14 AM

SENATOR HOLLI'S FRENCH, Al aska State Legislature, introduced SB
184 as sponsor. He said the proposed bill would bring the
wor ki ngs of the legislature to everyplace in Al aska where there
is a conputer. He said allowing the people of Alaska to watch
live-streaming of every conmttee neeting wll make them feel
nore connected to what goes on in the capitol. Senat or French

acknow edged that Gavel to Gavel currently provides coverage of
neetings on cable television throughout the state, but said
Gavel to Gavel is not able to cover every neeting.

SENATOR FRENCH noted that video caneras were recently installed
by the Legislative Affairs Agency on a trial basis in select
committee roons in the capitol - the House State Affairs
Standing Conmmittee room being one - and prior to the start of
the neeting, some commttee nenbers were able to see what that
live-streaming |ooks like on a conputer screen. Senat or French
stated, "It's not nearly the same quality as Gavel to Gavel, but
| think, ... in the interest of balancing expense versus
expedi ency, the web canera is a fair ... conpromise." He noted
that the bill would not require the live-streans be archived,
the intent of the bill is to nmake the video available to the
public as the conmittees are neeting.

8:12: 43 AM

REPRESENTATI VE SEATON directed attention to the |ast sentence of
SB 184, on page 1, lines 13-14, which read as foll ows:

The electronic recordings produced by a fixed camera
under this section are not public records and are not
required to be retained or stored.

REPRESENTATI VE SEATON asked the bill sponsor to confirm that
that would not prohibit the public from recording that which
woul d be live-streaned fromthe fixed canera.

SENATOR FRENCH said that |anguage is directed at the state, and

he offered his understanding that the public would be able to
keep records if desired.

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 3- April 15, 2010



8:14:10 AM

SUE GULLUFSEN, Manager, Legislative Information Ofice (LIO,
Legislative Affairs Agency, in response to a question from
Representative Johnson, confirned that the |ive-stream ng would
be operated sinmultaneously with the LIO s audio recording, which
nmeans that the video would turned off when the audio is turned

of f, for exanple, during an at-ease. In response to
Representative Seaton, she said the intent of the LIO is to
live-stream only during commttee neetings. However, she said

the LIO could accommpdate the legislature if, for exanple, it
want ed a special presentation |ive-streaned.

8:16: 22 AM

M5. GULLUFSEN, in response to Representative P. WIlson, said she
had not considered offering live-streamng from neetings that
take place in Anchorage during the interim but she said that
woul d be a good i dea.

8:17:36 AM

TIM POMNERS, |IT Coordinator, Legislative Information Ofice
(LIO, Legislative Affairs Agency, in response to Representative
Gatto, clarified that although the audio was not running unti
the red light was on, the video canera was.

8:18: 00 AM

M5. GULLUFSEN, in response to Representative Petersen, said the
LIO could consider installing video caneras in all the LIGCs
t hroughout the state.

MR. POANERS surmsed that Representative Petersen is talking
about a video conferencing solution that would allow the public
to be in an LIO and watch a presenter. He explained that that
woul d be a separate project; the infrastructure being set up now
is designed to be only a one-way video stream rather than a
synchroni zed, two-way vi deo stream

8:19: 08 AM
M5. GULLUFSEN, in response to Representative Johnson, said the
budget reflected in the fiscal note would be used to hire

soneone part-tinme and seasonally to run the live-stream ng. The
$56, 000 designated for equiprment would be used to outfit the

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -4- April 15, 2010



ot her seven comittee roons. She said the LIO plans to absorb
the bandwidth within its present budget.

8:19:54 AM

REPRESENTATIVE JOHNSON said he receives a nessage on his
conputer four to five tines a day stating that his nailbox is
full, and his requests for expanded bandw dth have been deni ed.
He indicated that he has been unable to send commttee packet
information to his conmttee because of a |ack of bandw dth, and
he expressed <concern that the proposed |egislation would
exacerbate that problem He questioned what the addition of
live-streaming in seven other conmttee roons would cost and
what it would do to existing bandw dth.

MR. POWNERS said he cannot speak to the financial aspect of the
project. Regarding the process, he explained that currently al
the LIOs video is streaned to a conpany called Witershed. A
person who watches that video 1is actually pulling that
information off Watershed's web site. He explained that the LIO
has dedicated digital subscriber line (DSL) in place for the
live-streaming that is separate fromthe state's network.

M5. GULLUFSEN, in response to a followup question from
Representative Johnson, said the DSL is the bandw dth that the
LIO plans to absorb in its budget. She offered her
understanding that the state had expressed concern about the
LIOs use of the state's network, which is why the LIO chose to
use an outsi de vendor.

REPRESENTATI VE JOHNSON sai d he appreciates knowi ng the LI O woul d
be using a dedicated DSL |ine, because he said he wants to
ensure he will not be nore restricted in bandw dth use. He
stated his support of the concept of the bill.

8:22: 58 AM

CHAIR LYNN, after ascertaining that there was no one else who
w shed to testify, closed public testinony.

8:23:15 AM

REPRESENTATI VE SEATON noved to adopt Anmendnment 1, |abeled 26-
LSO0833\ A. 1, Cook, 4/14/10, which read as foll ows:

Page 1, line 10:
Delete ", except for executive sessions,"”

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 5- April 15, 2010



Page 1, line 13, follow ng "progress."

I nsert "However, periods when a conmttee is in
executive session, in recess, or at ease nay not be
recorded, nor may a live audio or video feed of those
periods be nade available to the public through
| nt ernet broadcast."

CHAI R LYNN obj ected for discussion purposes.

8:23:47 AM

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG obj ected for discussion purposes. He
asked what assurance there would be that the video Iive-

streanming is turned off during an executive session.

CHAIR LYNN stated his assunption that it would work the sanme way
as when the conmittee goes to an at-ease.

[ SENATOR FRENCH nodded. ]
8:24:34 AM

REPRESENTATI VE P. WLSON recollected that [M. Powers] had said
that during an at-ease, the audio would be shut off, but the

video would still be running. She offered her understanding
that the person who runs the LIO equipnment during neetings wll
have the extra responsibility of running the |ive-stream ng
vi deo.

8:.25:52 AM

MR. POVNERS confirnmed that the LIO plans to turn off the audio,
but | eave the video running during an executive session, just as
it would during an at-ease. However, he said the LIO can put a
different plan in place if that 1is the desire of the

| egislature. |In response to Representative W/Ison, he indicated
that [under SB 184], there would be one person sitting in a room
watching the video streams - up to 9 at the sane tine;

therefore, that person would have to be contacted for the video
to be shut off.

8:26:41 AM
REPRESENTATI VE P. WLSON opined that this is a policy call that

shoul d be made before any other video equipnment is wred. She
surm sed that with Amendnent 1, the audio and video would be

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 6- April 15, 2010



turned off automatically when the LIO turned off the recording,
which would nmean the person who is watching the video from
anot her office would not have to be contact ed.

8:27:33 AM

CHAIR LYNN said he thinks Anendnent 1 would "put what we al ways
had i ntended" in statute to be clear.

REPRESENTATI VE SEATON stated his preference that the audio and
video or live-stream ng be shut off whenever a neeting is at a
standstill, and for a nessage to show on the video screen during
those tinmes stating what is comng up next, or that the
commnttee is at-ease, for exanple. He said he thinks the intent
to broadcast all comrittee nmeetings is a good idea, and he
indicated that Anmendnent 1 would elimnate the unintended
consequence of having the video stream ng all day | ong.

8:30: 29 AM

REPRESENTATI VE PETERSEN asked M. Powers if it would be possible
to control the audio and video with the sane button.

8:30: 39 AM

MR. POWNERS said currently the LIO has two nodel s of equi pnent in
place, and sone of the older equipnment has a "physical,

mechanical relay,” which switches on and off. He said that
ol der nodel's relay "would probably suffice to cut the video
stream also if the video was wired through it." In sone of the

newer [neeting] roons, he related, there is a newer digital
audio system and the red button functions nuch differently, in

that there is no relay. Where the newer system is used, M

Powers said, the LIO would probably have to figure out a way to
"Wire that through in that system also.” In response to
Representative Seaton's suggestion to have upcomng information
showi ng on the screen - "overlays" - he said that would be nore

time consumng and would require nore staff and nore equi pnment,
because of the need to watch for stops and starts during the
neet i ngs.

8:31:49 AM

REPRESENTATI VE JOHNSON expressed his support of Anendnent 1. He
said he is not concerned about the issue of at-eases, but he
enphasi zed the inportance of maintaining the confidentiality of
executive sessions.

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -7- April 15, 2010



8:34: 36 AM
CHAI R LYNN renoved his objection.
8:34.:57 AM

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG asked what steps would be taken by the
LIO to prevent any of its staff from inadvertently watching the
vi deo during an executive session.

8:35:16 AM

M5. GULLUFSEN said she cannot immediately say what steps she
woul d take; however, she enphasized that she clearly understands
t he inportance of executive sessions. Currently, she said, when
commttees go into executive session, the noderator in the room
flips a switch so that the session is not recorded. She
stressed that under SB 184, wth Anmendnent 1, it would be
inportant for that noderator to communicate closely with the LIO
staff who would be running the live-streaming in the other
office, to tell himher to shut off the video.

8:36:31 AM

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG said he thinks it is inportant that
there be specific policies in place to address this issue, and
that those policies need to be okayed by Legislative Council.

8:37:10 AM

REPRESENTATI VE PETERSEN asked if adopting Anmendnent 1 would
result in an increased fiscal note.

8:37:23 AM

MR. POAERS inparted that tackling executive sessions only could
be handled by one staff person, because the nunber of tines
executive sessions occur during the course of a |legislative
session is very | ow.

8:37:55 AM
REPRESENTATI VE PETERSEN suggested that it nmay be beneficial to

amend Anendnent 1, so that the |anguage applies only to
executive sessions.

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 8- April 15, 2010



8:38:31 AM

REPRESENTATI VE SEATON rem nded the conmttee that [M. Powers]
had said that the system could be wired so that the video and
audio are turned off together, which would not require any
further staff. He acknow edged that [M. Powers] had said the
increase in cost would come from adding overlays to the video
| ive-stream ng, and Amendnent 1 does not proposed that be done.

8:40:19 AM

REPRESENTATI VE P. WLSON said any conmittee she has ever served
on has known well in advance if it was going to go into an
executive session during its neeting; therefore, she said it
woul d be possible to give the LIO staff notice to pay special
attention to know when to shut down the video for an upcom ng
executive session.

8:41: 09 AM
REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG reiterated his concern that Legislative
Council should have the authority to inplenment the proposed
| anguage, and he asked if the council already has that
authority.

M5. GULLUFSEN responded that she thinks the council probably
does have the authority, since it already oversees the LIOs
agency.

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG said he would like confirmati on on that
poi nt .

8:42: 24 AM

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG renoved his objection to the notion to
adopt Anendnent 1. There being no further objection, Anmendnent
1 was adopt ed.

8:42: 40 AM

REPRESENTATI VE JOHNSON spoke of a recent incident in which "our
private information had been hacked into" and "potentially
becanme public.” He said he advocates for public access, but is
particularly concerned about security, especially during
executive session. He stated that he does not want soneone to
be able to hack into an executive session.

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 9- April 15, 2010



8:44:33 AM

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG noted that the proposed bill, as
anended, does not include special sessions.

REPRESENTATI VE SEATON poi nted out that the |egislature sonetines
nmeets outside of Juneau during special sessions, and if special
sessions were included in the bill |anguage, then [video |ive-
stream ng equi pmrent would have to be set up] around the state
and every conmttee neeting outside of Juneau would have to be

live-streaned. Not including special sessions in the bil

| anguage woul d not rmean neetings outside of Juneau could not be
live-streaned; it would just not nmeke it nandatory that they
are.

8:46: 30 AM

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG said the bill only addresses those
roons that are already set up with fixed caneras. He then noted
that special sessions often take place in Juneau. He stated

“I"'m wondering if there's a reason, since we're only dealing
with roons that are already set up for this, why this does not
i ncl ude special sessions, because all it would require is them

turning on the canera."”
8:47:22 AM

SENATOR FRENCH said he shares Representative Seaton's concerns
that [including special sessions in the |anguage of the bill]

could result in inadvertently requiring live-streamng from
pl aces other than the capitol. He said the bill, as anended

woul d cover "95 percent of what we do."

CHAI R LYNN concurred with Senator French.

8:48: 02 AM

REPRESENTATI VE PETERSEN said he thinks SB 184, as anended, is a
good i dea. He said Alaska is "one of the nost wired states in
the Union, if not the nost,"” and any way to nake sessions nore
avai lable to the public is "a good thing."

8:48:16 AM

REPRESENTATI VE PETERSEN noved to report SB 184, as anended, out

of commi ttee wth i ndi vi dual reconmendati ons and t he
acconpanyi ng fiscal notes.

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -10- April 15, 2010



8:48: 29 AM

REPRESENTATI VE SEATON asked for confirmation that the fiscal
note that would be attached is dated 1/29/2010.

CHAIR LYNN and REPRESENTATIVE PETERSEN confirned that is
correct.

8:48: 44 AM

CHAI R LYNN announced that w thout objection, HCS SB 184( STA) was
reported out of the House State Affairs Standing Conmttee.

CHAIR LYNN thanked supporting staff for their help during
sessi on.

8:49:19 AM
ADJ QURNVENT
There being no further business before the conmttee, the House

State Affairs Standing Conmittee neeting was adjourned at 8:49
a.m

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -11- April 15, 2010



